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WITNESS IDENTIFICATION 1 

Q. What is your name and business address? 2 

A. My name is Charles Gribbins. My business address is 527 East Capitol 3 

Avenue, Springfield, Illinois 62701. 4 

Q. By whom are you employed and in what capacity? 5 

A. I am employed by the Illinois Commerce Commission (“Commission”) as a 6 

Pipeline Safety Analyst II in the Pipeline Safety Program of the Safety and 7 

Reliability Division.  In my current position, I perform audits and 8 

inspections for the Commission’s natural gas pipeline safety program, 9 

which ensures the natural gas operators in Illinois are meeting the 10 

minimum federal safety standards prescribed by 49 CFR Sections 191, 11 

192, 193, 199, adopted by IL Adm. Code Part 590 and by the Illinois Gas 12 

Pipeline Safety Act (220 ILCS 20). 13 

Q. Please describe your education and experience? 14 

A. Prior to employment with the ICC, I was a Gas Superintendent with the 15 

Village of Edinburg where I operated the municipal gas system.  Since my 16 

employment with the Commission, I have received extensive technical 17 

training at the Transportation Safety Institute (“TSI”) in Oklahoma City, 18 

which is where state and federal pipeline safety inspectors receive 19 

technical education relating to the enforcement and interpretation of 20 

pipeline safety standards.  Training at TSI includes subjects such as 21 

Introduction to Part 192, Pipeline Safety Regulation Application and 22 
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Compliance, Natural Gas Odorization, Joining of Pipeline Materials, 23 

Incident Investigation, Pipeline Integrity Management, Operator 24 

Qualification, Pipeline Corrosion Control, Public Awareness Program 25 

Effectiveness Evaluation and various other technical aspects of natural 26 

gas pipeline operations.  I have worked as a Pipeline Safety Analyst at the 27 

Commission for 24 years. 28 

PURPOSE OF TESTIMONY 29 

Q. What is the purpose of this proceeding? 30 

A. The purpose of this proceeding is to consider whether the City of Bushnell 31 

has violated Commission rules, adopting 49 CFR Part 192, in its operation 32 

of the Bushnell Municipal Gas System (“Bushnell”).  33 

 Q. What is the purpose of your testimony? 34 

A. The purpose of my testimony is to present the position of the Commission 35 

Staff (“Staff”). I have performed inspections and created, or participated in 36 

creating reports, including the Staff Report filed on May 10, 2013, which 37 

prompted the Initiating Order in this proceeding.  That Staff Report is 38 

attached to and incorporated into my testimony as Attachment A. 39 

 Q. Please describe Staff’s concerns regarding a potential the violation 40 

of Section 192.616(c) and 192.616 (i). 41 

A. In my opinion, the City of Bushnell is in probable violation of the Code of 42 

Federal Regulations 49 CFR § 192.616 (c).  Section 192.616(c) requires 43 

Bushnell the operator to follow general program recommendations, 44 

including baseline and supplemental requirements of (American 45 

Petroleum Institute Recommended Practice) API RP 1162, unless the 46 
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operator provides justification in its program or procedural manual as to 47 

why compliance with all or certain provisions of the recommended practice 48 

is not practicable and not necessary for safety.  API RP 1162.1  Section 49 

8.3 of the API RP requires the operator to complete an annual audit or 50 

review of whether the program has been developed and implemented 51 

according to the guidelines in this RP.  The purpose of the audit is to 52 

answer: (1) Has the Public Awareness Program been developed and 53 

written to address the objectives, elements and baseline schedule as 54 

described in Section 2 and the remainder of the RP; and (2) Has the 55 

Public Awareness Program been implemented and documented according 56 

to the written program.  57 

49 CFR Section 192.616 paragraph (i) requires the operator's program 58 

documentation and evaluation results to be available for periodic review 59 

by appropriate regulatory agencies.  During an inspection I performed on 60 

May 22-24, 2012, I requested that the operator provide documentation 61 

demonstrating compliance with this code section.  The operator could not 62 

provide documentation confirming that it conducted the required annual 63 

audit and internal assessment. 64 

In addition to the annual assessment documentation, the operator could 65 

not provide documentation demonstrating compliance with APR RP 1162, 66 

Section 8.4.2 requiring the quadrennial effectiveness review.  The 67 

quadrennial review requires the operator to develop and implement 68 

                                            
1
 API Recommended Practice, 1162 First Edition December 2003). 
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changes to addresses deficiencies identified by the review.  The review 69 

must measure the percentage of the intended stakeholder audience that 70 

understood and retained the key information in the messages received via 71 

the Public Awareness Program implementation.   72 

Regulatory and Enforcement Provisions 73 

Q. What authority or jurisdiction does the ICC have in this matter? 74 

A. Enforcement of the Minimum Federal Safety Standards is granted to the 75 

Commission under an agreement pursuant to 49 U. S. C. Section 60105 76 

with the U. S. Department of Transportation (“USDOT”) Office of Pipeline 77 

Safety. The federal standards codified under 49 CFR Section 192 have 78 

been adopted by the State of Illinois in 83 Ill. Adm. Code 590. 79 

Q. Was Bushnell notified of the violation? 80 

A. Yes.  A Notice of Probable Violation (“NOPV”) was sent to Bushnell on 81 

May 24, 2012.  82 

Q. How did Bushnell respond to the May 24, 2012, NOPV? 83 

A. Bushnell replied on June 21, 2012, indicating in its reply that the required 84 

corrective actions would be completed. 85 

Q. Did you conduct a follow-up inspection of Bushnell’s violation of 86 

Sections 192.616 (c), 192.616 (i) and API RP 1162, sections 8.3. and 87 

8.4.2 88 

A. Yes.  On February 21, 2013, I conducted a follow-up review and noted 89 

that the operator failed to provide documentation demonstrating it 90 

conducted the annual audit and internal assessment and quadrennial 91 
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effectiveness review to develop or implement and make changes as 92 

required by 49 CFR subsections 192.616 (c) and (i) and API RP 1162, 93 

sections 8.3 and 8.4.2.  This violation has not been corrected and to my 94 

knowledge is still ongoing. 95 

Q. Did you conduct any additional follow-up inspector of Bushnell’s 96 

violation of Sections 192.616 (c), 192.616 (i) and API RP 1162, 97 

Sections 8.3 and 8.4.2. 98 

A. Yes.  I conducted a compliance follow-up inspection on August 15, 2013 99 

to determine if corrective actions had been taken.  The follow-up 100 

inspection included a comprehensive review of the new Public Awareness 101 

Program plan.  Upon completion of the review, I identified that the annual 102 

review had been conducted, but that the operator could provide no 103 

documentation of a quadrennial review.  To my knowledge, the 104 

quadrennial review has not been conducted and, to my knowledge, the 105 

violation regarding API RP 1162 section 8.4.2 is still ongoing. 106 

Conclusions 107 

Q. What is your recommendation to the Commission? 108 

A. I recommend that the Commission find that Bushnell has violated 49 CFR 109 

subsections 192.616 (c) and (i), and API RP 1162 sections 8.3 and 8.4.2.  110 

Bushnell did not comply with the minimum federal safety standards that 111 

are addressed above. 112 

Q. Under the Gas Pipeline Safety Act, what factors should be 113 

considered in determining the amount of penalty? 114 
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A. For purposes of determining the amount of penalty, Section 7 (b) states 115 

that: 116 

[T]he Commission shall consider the appropriateness of the 117 
penalty to size of the business of the person charged, the 118 
gravity of the violation, and the good faith of the person 119 
charged in attempting to achieve compliance, after 120 
notification of the violation. 121 
 122 
 123 

Q. How would you describe the size of Bushnell? 124 

A. According to data submitted on the calendar year 2012 DOT Annual 125 

Report, Bushnell serves a total of 1,667 service lines.  It is a small 126 

municipal gas system. 127 

Q. How would you describe the gravity of this offence? 128 

A. The operator failed to demonstrate compliance with the Federal Code.  129 

The operator failed to meet the minimum requirements to maintain records 130 

related to the Public Awareness Program under their control.  Failure to 131 

comply with the minimum safety standards could result in a failure of the 132 

pipeline system resulting in the loss of life or property if not maintained 133 

properly. 134 

Q. Has Bushnell made a good faith effort in trying to achieve 135 

compliance? 136 

A. No 137 

Q. What penalties may be assessed against Bushnell? 138 

A. Title 49 CFR Section 60122, which was adopted by Section 7 of the Illinois 139 

Gas Pipeline Safety Act, allows for civil penalties of more than $200,000 140 

for each violation, for a maximum of $2,000,000.  Both the Gas Pipeline 141 
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Safety Act and the federal regulations state that each day the violations 142 

persist is also a separate violation. 143 

Q. What is your recommendation to the Commission? 144 

A. I recommend that the Commission find that Bushnell has violated 49 CFR 145 

Sections 192.616 (c) and (i), and API 1162 sections 8.3 and 8.4.2. 146 

Q. In this situation, what would be considered a violation? 147 

A. Bushnell failed to comply with, and to maintain records to demonstrate 148 

compliance, with the section of the CFR noted above the operator under 149 

the jurisdiction of the Illinois Commerce Commission must meet to 150 

maintain compliance with required federal standards. 151 

Q. What is your recommendation as to what penalty should be 152 

assessed against Bushnell? 153 

A. Given the magnitude and duration of this violation, a significant civil 154 

penalty is warranted.  Guidelines provided by the USDOT insist that 155 

operators not profit by acts of non-compliance with the requirements.  The 156 

violations have been allowed to exist for an extended period of time, 157 

nearly four years. However, consideration must be given to the ability of 158 

the operator to pay the civil penalties and the good faith effort exhibited by 159 

the operator to correct the violations Bushnell is considered a small 160 

municipal gas distribution system.  Bushnell has drafted a new Public 161 

Awareness Program plan that meets the requirements of CFR Part 192 162 

and API RP 1162.  The annual review has been conducted but the 163 

quadrennial evaluation has not been performed.  Staff, accordingly, 164 
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recommends that the Commission order Bushnell to pay civil penalties of 165 

$28,800, equivalent to $7,200 per code section violated.  Additionally, 166 

Staff recommends that the Commission order Bushnell to take the 167 

necessary actions to achieve compliance with all applicable sections of 168 

the Code of Federal Regulations within 60 days of the final order in this 169 

proceeding.  The Commission should also order Bushnell to conduct an 170 

additional quadrennial review in calendar year 2014 as would have been 171 

required if the initial quadrennial review had been conducted when 172 

required in 2010. 173 

Q. Please summarize your position. 174 

A. I recommend that the Commission find that Bushnell violated Commission 175 

rules and thus be ordered to pay the penalty I have recommended above. 176 

Q. Does this conclude your direct testimony? 177 

A. Yes, it does. 178 


